IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 89,178

DARRYL HENDERSON,

Petitioner,

-VS-

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS

BENNETT H. BRUMMER **Public** Defender Eleventh Judicial Circuit of Florida 1320 Northwest 14th Street Miami, Florida 33125 (305) 545-1960

BRUCE A. ROSENTHAL Assistant Public Defender Florida Bar No. 227218

Counsel for Petitioner

F/ILED SID J. WHITE DEC 24 1996 CLERK, SUPREME COURT Бγ Chief Deputy Clerk

INTRODUCTION	
STATEMENT OF THE CASE 2	
STATEMENT OF THE FACTS 4	
SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT	
ARGUMENT	3

I.

WHERE THE DEFENDANT WAS NOT SHOWN TO HAVE COMMITTED THE ROBBERY OR TO HAVE AIDED AND ABETTED THE PERPETRATORS OF THE ROBBERY BUT WAS ONLY THE DRIVER OF THE VEHICLE IN WHICH THEY LEFT THE SCENE, THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN DENYING THE DEFENDANT ENTITLEMENT TO A JUDGMENT OF ACQUITTAL.

II.

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN CONDUCTING SELECTION OF JURORS OUTSIDE THE IMMEDIATE
PRESENCE OF THE DEFENDANT, AND THE LOWER
COURT ERRED IN DENYING APPLICATION OF
CONEY v. STATE, 653 So. 2d 1009 (Fla. 1995)
WHERE THE TRIAL OCCURRED AFTER ISSUANCE
OF THE DECISION IN THAT CASE. ,
CONCLUSION
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE , ,

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

CASES

Î

Ĩ

Ę

A. Y. G. v. State 414 So. 2d 1158 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982)
<i>Bell v. State</i> 21 Fla. L. Weekly-, No. 87,716 (Fla. Dec. 12, 1996)
Bould v. Touchette 349 So. 2d 1181 (Fla. 1977)
Bowick v. State 21 Fla. L. Weekly, No. 87,826 (Fla. Dec. 12, 1996)
Boyett v. State 21 Fla. L. Weekly S535 (Fla. Dec. 5, 1996)
Branch v. State 21 Fla. L. Weekly, No. 87,717 (Fla. Dec. 12, 1996)
<i>Burks v. United States</i> 437 U.S. 1, 98 S. Ct. 2141, 57 L. Ed. 2d 1 (1978)
Coney v. State 653 So. 2d 1009 (Fla. 1995)
Dania Jai-Alai Palace, Inc. v. Sykes 450 So. 2d 1114 (Fla. 1984)
Davis v. State 436 So. 2d 196 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983), review denied, 444 So. 2d 418 (Fla. 1984) . 13
<i>Douglas v. State</i> 214 So. 2d 653 (Fla. 3d DCA 1968)
Fox v. State 469 So. 2d 800 (Fla. 1st DCA), review denied, 480 So. 2d 1296 (Fla. 1985) 10
<i>Francis v. State</i> 413 So. 2d 1175 (Fla. 1982)

<i>Gainer v. State</i> Fla. L. Weekly, No. 87,720 (Fla . Dec. 12, 1996)
<i>Greene v. Massey</i> 437 U.S. 19, 98 S. Ct. 2151, 57 L. Ed. 2d 15 (1978)
<i>Gustine v. State</i> 86 Fla. 24, 97 So. 207 (1923)
<i>Henderson v. State</i> 679 So. 2d 805 (Fla. 3d DCA 1996)14
<i>Horton v. State</i> 442 So. 2d 1064 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983)
<i>Howard γ. State</i> 21 Fla. L. Weekly, No. 87,856 (Fla . Dec. 12, 1996)
<i>J.H. v. State</i> 370 So. 2d 1219 (Fla. 3d DCA 1979), c<i>ert. denied,</i> 379 So, 2d 209 (Fla. 1980) 9
<i>Jackson v. State</i> 436 So. 2d 1085 (Fla. 3d DCA 1983) ,13
<i>Lett v. State</i> 21 Fla. L. Weekly S536 (Fla. Dec. 5, 1996)
<i>McBride v. State</i> 338 So. 2d 567 (Fla. 1st DCA 1976)
Ocean Trail Unit Owners Association Inc. v. Mead 650 So. 2d 4 (Fla. 1995)
<i>Perez v. State</i> 390 So. 2d 85 (Fla. 3d DCA 1980)
Smith v. State 502 So. 2d 77 (Fla. 3d DCA 1987) 10
State v. Horn 21 Fla. L. Weekly S536 (Fla. Dec. 5, 1996)

Sfafen v. State 519 So. 2d 622 (Fla. 1988)
<i>Stuckey v. Sfafe</i> 414 So. 2d 1160 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982)
<i>Valdez v. State</i> 504 So. 2d 9 (Fla. 2d DCA 1986)
OTHER AUTHORITIES
FLORIDA RULE OF APPELLATE PROCEDURE
9.020(g)
FLORIDA RULE OF CRIMINAL PROCEDURE
3.180(a)(4)
Black's Law Dictionary 830 (6th ed. 1990)

I

Í

Ì

INTRODUCTION

The Petitioner, DARRYL HENDERSON, was the defendant in the trial court and the Appellant in the lower court, Third District Court of Appeal. The Respondent, the State, was the prosecution in the trial court and the Appellee in the lower court. The parties will be referred to as they stood before the trial court. The designation "R. ___ will refer to the record on appeal, and the designation "T. ___ will refer to the separately bound transcript of proceedings. The decision of the lower court, in both published and slip form, comprises the appendix to this brief.

ł

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On February 13, 1995, the defendant proceeded to trial by jury' on an amended information charge of robbery with a firearm of Gloria Perla (Count I) and Edith Perla (Count II) on September 4, 1994. (R. 1-2; T. 1 et seq.) (Circuit Court Case No. 94-30300.) The record reflects that exercise of challenges was conducted at sidebar outside of the defendant's presence (T. 46-49), which will constitute the second issue herein.

At the conclusion of the State's case, which was also the conclusion of all the evidence, the trial court denied the defendant's motion for judgment of acquittal made on the basis that the evidence showed the defendant only to have been the driver of the car in which the perpetrators of the robbery left (T. 198-99, 203), which ruling (and affirmance thereof) will constitute the first issue herein

The defendant was found guilty on both counts as charged (T. 306-07; R. 22, 23); was adjudicated guilty (T. 308; R. 24), and was given an enhanced sentence of thirty years imprisonment, with a fifteen-year mandatory minimum. (T. 339; R. 30-31.)

On direct appeal, the Third District Court of Appeal affirmed the conviction, finding the evidence sufficient and ruling that, "[a]ssuming . . . that [the defendant] was absent [from sidebar during exercise of peremptory challenges] . . . *Coney* [V. State, 653 So. 2d

Voir dire was conducted by Circuit Judge Arthur Snyder; the balance of trial was conducted by Circuit Judge Alex E. Ferrer.

1009 (Fla. **[1995]**) is inapplicable as its application is prospective only . . . and [the defendant's] trial took place [after the issuance of the Coney opinion but prior to the time the motion for rehearing therein was disposed of]." Henderson *v. State*, 679 So. 2d 805, 808 (Fla. 3d DCA 1996). On motion of the defendant, the court certified, as one of great public importance, the following question:

DOES THE DECISION IN *CONEY v.* **STATE, 653 So.** 2d 1009 (Fla.), cert. denied, ____U.S. ___, **116** S. Ct. 315, 133 L. Ed, 2d 218 (1995) APPLY TO CASES IN WHICH THE JURY SELECTION PROCESS TOOK PLACE AND THE ENTIRE TRIAL CONCLUDED DURING THE PERIOD OF TIME AFTER THE ISSUANCE OF THE *CONEY* OPINION BUT PRIOR TO THE TIME THAT CONEY BECAME FINAL BY THE DISPOSITION OF ALL MOTIONS FOR REHEARING DIRECTED TO THAT OPINION?

Id. at 808.

Notice to invoke the discretionary review jurisdiction of this Court was timely filed on

October 16, 1996.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

If the actual facts adduced at trial were as described by the lower court in its opinion, there would be no sufficiency argument; however, the evidence described by the lower court was not the evidence. In particular, contrary to that which was stated below, there was no direct evidence that the defendant drove the car to the scene as distinct from away the scene after the robbery; no evidence that the defendant's car arrived "almost simultaneously" with the victim's car or that the defendant's car had been "following the victims;" no evidence that the defendant "deliberately [made] it possible for the robberies to be committed[;]" and no evidence that the defendant in the robberies[.]" *Henderson v. State*, 679 So. 2d 805, 807-08 (Fla. 3d DCA 1996). The following is the evidence actually adduced at trial:

On September 4, 1994, Augusto Perla, 54 years of age, accompanied by his wife, drove his sister to her residence at 10725 Southwest 74th Avenue. (T. 104, 120.) Perla's wife, Gloria, was in the back seat, and his sister, Edith, was in the front passenger seat. (T. 105-06, 120-121.) They arrived at Edith Perla's residence at about 5:00 p.m.; as Gloria Perla began to exit the car, they were robbed by two black males, neither of whom was the defendant. (T. 105, 106-09, 121-23, 127-28.) The robbery occurred at the entrance of Edith Perla's residence, which Gloria Perla described as "far away" from the street -- past a driveway to the parking garage. (T. 1 16.) Augusto Perla described his sister's residence as located "far off" from the street; he estimated the distance from the street to where the Perlas' car was as about

forty to fifty feet. (T. 130.)

As Gloria Perla opened the car door, her purse was grabbed by a black male; another man was holding a gun, pointing it at Mr. Perla. (T. 106-07, 121.) Mr. Perla had seen the two men approach quickly; they had not been running. (T. 131.) Mr. Perla thought they were coming to ask for an address, and didn't imagine they were going to hold them up. (T. 131.) The man who took Gloria Perla's purse elbowed Edith Perla in the shoulder, taking her purse as well. (T. 107, 122.) The incident happened very quickly. (T. 1 16, 132-33.)

After the purses were taken, the two men left running quickly, past an area of parked cars, to the street, with Augusto Perla running after them. (T. 108, 1 10, 121-22, 133.) Mr. Perla was right behind when the two men ran to a white Cadillac which was on the street, and got in; the defendant had been sitting in the car in the driver's seat. (T. 122, 134.) Throughout the incident the car had remained on the street; Gloria Perla testified that the car had not been parked when they arrived. (T. 116-17.) After the men got in the car, and before it drove away, Mr. Perla had enough time to go around and see a portion of the tag. (T. 135.) Before doing so he approached to within approximately three feet of the defendant in the driver's seat. (T. 137-38, 148-49.) The defendant had remained seated inside the car during the entire incident. (T. 141.) When Mr. Perla got to the car, the defendant turned around and appeared surprised. (T. 141 , 150.) After Mr. Perla observed the tag, the car, which was apparently already started or running, then drove off. (T. 124, 134-35.)

Police responded, and within about ten minutes the Cadillac was stopped at

87th Avenue and Southwest 128th Street. (T. 160.) The Perlas were brought to the scene. (T. 111, 127-28.) Gloria and Edith Perla were unable to make any identification. (T. 112-14, 191-92.) Neither had seen the driver of the Cadillac. (T. 191-92.)

Mr. Perla made an identification of the defendant as the driver. (T. 122-23, 128-29, 162-64.)

After arrest and advice of Miranda rights at the station, the defendant spoke with Detective William Ryan, denying any involvement in or knowledge of the robbery. (T. 174-76.) He said he was just giving friends a ride to the Dadeland Metrorail station when he was stopped by police. (T. 176.) Detective Ryan testified that the Cadillac was stopped three to four miles away from a Metrorail station. (T. 187.) Ι.

Where an individual does not actually commit the charged offense he can be convicted as an aider and abetter only upon, as pertinent herein, proof beyond a reasonable doubt of intent to participate in the perpetration of the crime. See, e.g., *A. Y.G. v. State,* 414 So. 2d 1159 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982). In the absence of evidence of any communications or advance planning, presence near the scene of a crime (robbery) committed by two other individuals, and driving them away, is insufficient to convict the defendant as an aider and abetter. Such involvement is, at most, suggestive of guilt of accessory after the fact, which is an uncharged offense in this case.

II.

Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.180(a)(4) mandates the presence of the defendant at the exercise of jury challenges. Because the trial in this case was held after the issuance of decision in *Coney v. State*, 653 So. 2d 1009 (Fla.1995), which requires either that a defendant be physically present at the immediate site of exercise of challenges, or, alternatively, that there be a ratification otherwise of selection or a knowing, intelligent and involuntary waiver of the right to be present, none of which occurred in this case, reversal is required.

ARGUMENT

١.

WHERE THE DEFENDANT WAS NOT SHOWN TO HAVE COMMITTED THE ROBBERY OR TO HAVE AIDED AND ABETTED THE PERPETRATORS OF THE ROBBERY BUT WAS ONLY THE DRIVER OF THE VEHICLE IN WHICH THEY LEFT THE SCENE, THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN DENYING THE DEFENDANT ENTITLEMENT TO A JUDGMENT OF ACQUITTAL.²

The conviction, as well as the lower court's recitation of the evidence, rests only upon assumption, inference, and pyramiding of inferences, and therefore is improper. The actual evidence, as distinct from the lower court's unsupported description of it, was that the defendant was the driver of the vehicle into which the two perpetrators of the robbery, after the fact, entered, that the car was driven away at a sufficiently slow pace that the husband of the victim had time both to observe the defendant and to walk around to the back of the car and observe the license plate, and that, upon apprehension by police, the defendant said that he was driving his passengers to a Metrorail station, when the nearest Metrorail station was three or four miles away. That the two perpetrators emerged from

Although the lower court certified only the Coneyquestion, when this Court acquires jurisdiction it acquires jurisdiction over the entire cause, e.g., *Ocean Trail Unit Owners Ass'n Inc. v. Mead,* 650 So. 2d 4, 5 (Fla. **1995)**, and "**proceed[s]** to consider the entire cause on the merits." *Dania Jai-Alai* Palace, *Inc. v.* Sykes, 450 So. 2d 1114, 1122 (Fla. **1984)**, *quoting Bould* v. *Touchette*, 349 So. 2d 1181, 1183 (Fla. 1977). As a constitutional matter, this sufficiency argument should be considered first, because if the Petitioner is correct that the evidence was not sufficient, then double jeopardy would bar a retrial, *Greene v. Massey, 437* U.S. 19, *98* S. Ct. 2151, *57* L. Ed. 2d 15 (**1978**), *Burks v. United* States, 437 U.S. **1**, 98 S. Ct. 2141, 57 L. Ed. 2d 1 (**1978**), the latter being the relief from an affirmative answer to the certified question.

the defendant's car before the robbery was not shown by direct evidence, but was only an inference drawn by the lower court; similarly, there was no evidence that, as the lower court described, the defendant's car was parked at the end of the driveway or that the perpetrators ran up the driveway and back down the driveway, the evidence being only that the car was parked somewhere on the street, and that the perpetrators of the robbery were first noticed by the victims as the robbery was about to occur. (T. 106-08, 110, 116-17, *121-22*, 133-34.)

Moreover, there is no record support for the lower court's conclusion that the event took **"nanoseconds"**;³ rather it took, as the victim testified, "two minutes," and there was no evidence that the event, that is, the robbery in front of the victim's house, was visible from the vehicle parked on the street.

Where, as here, an individual does not actually commit a robbery, he can be convicted as an aider and abettor only upon proof beyond and to the exclusion of a reasonable doubt, and inconsistent with any reasonable hypothesis of innocence, of intent to participate in the perpetration of the crime. See, e.g., *Stuckey* v. *State*, 414 So. 2d 1160 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982); *A.* Y.G. v. *State*, 414 So. 2d 1158 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982); *J.H.* v. *State*, 370 So. 2d 1219 (Fla. 3d DCA 1979), *cert*. denied, 379 So. 2d 209 (Fla. 1980); *Douglas v. State*, 214 So. 2d 653 (Fla. 3d DCA 1968).

It was not shown that the defendant herein had any knowledge of the robbery before, during the robbery, or when the perpetrators got into the vehicle.

3

The prefix nano denotes billionths, hence nanoseconds are billionths of a second.

Moreover, even had contemporaneous knowledge been shown, that would be insufficient. The fully controlling principle is, as stated by this Court, that "[m]ere knowledge that an offense is being committed is not the same as participation with criminal intent, and mere presence at the scene, including driving the perpetrator to and from the scene or a display of questionable behavior after the fact, is not sufficient to establish participation." *Staten v. State*, 519 So. 2d 622, 624 (Fla. 1988).

Unlike in Staten, id., there was no testimony, direct or otherwise, that the defendant engaged in any discussion of plans for a robbery with the perpetrators, or drove to the scene in execution of such a plan. On the proof adduced, the case is indistinguishable from numerous cases which hold that driving (assuming, arguendo, that occurred herein) the perpetrator to a scene, without proof of knowledge of or intent to participate in the commission of an offense, and driving the perpetrator away, is insufficient to sustain conviction.

See, e.g., *Valdez v. State*, 504 So. 2d 9 (Fla. 2d DCA 1986); Fox v. *State, 469 So.* 2d 800 (Fla. 1st DCA), review denied, 480 So. 2d 1296 (Fla. *1985); McBride v. State*, 338 So. 2d 567 (Fla. 1st DCA 1976). Indeed, and ironically, the lower court itself has correctly held evidence stronger than that in the instant case even insufficient to establish a probation violation, which entails a **cognizably** lower burden of proof. *Smith v. State*, *502* So. 2d 77 (Fla. 3d DCA 1987):

Marie **Buffone**, the victim, testified that as she returned home from a shopping trip she noticed a car behind her; and that she parked in her yard but remained in the car until the vehicle behind passed. The suspicious vehicle, driven by the defendant, continued to the corner and made a left turn out of her sight. It was only then that she got out of her car and started up the walkway to enter the house. As she walked up her driveway the man who was a passenger in the passing automobile ran up behind her and, after a brief struggle, took her purse and absconded. Both suspects were apprehended after a chase by police officers. The defendant was positively identified as the driver.

The defendant contends in this appeal that the evidence was legally insufficient to prove that he was an aider and abettor to the crime of burglary or robbery, relying mainly on *A. Y.G. v.* State, 414 So. 2d 1158 (Fla. 3d DCA **1982**), where we held that evidence that the defendant drove the getaway car from the scene of the burglary at the burglary's request, without more, was insufficient to convict as an aider and abettor. We agree.

A defendant cannot be convicted of a charged substantive offense based on evidence which proves involvement only as an accessory after the fact, Jackson *v. State*, 436 So. 2d 1085 (Fla. 3d DCA 1983); *A.Y.G. v.* State. Likewise probation cannot be revoked where the proof supports only an offense other than the one charged. Brown *v.* State, 468 So. 2d 439 (Fla. 2d DCA 1985). Nothing in the record excludes the reasonable inference that the defendant had no knowledge of the robbery until after it occurred. [Footnote omitted.]

ld. at 78.

Assuming, arguendo, that it was the defendant who drove the perpetrators of the robbery to the scene and was present on the street when the robbery was committed far off the street, some **fifty** feet away past the entrance and parking area of the residence, there is nothing to establish any advance knowledge or intent to participate on the part of the defendant. When the two perpetrators approached the Perlas' car, Mr. Perla thought

that they were coming to ask for directions. (T. 131.) When Mr. Perla chased the two perpetrators to the Cadillac, there was no communication between or from the two perpetrators and indeed, the defendant appeared surprised by Mr. Perla. (T. 140-41.) There was no evidence of furtiveness, concealment, or identifiable action by the defendant other than simply driving the car away. There was sufficient time even at this point for Mr. Perla to go around to the back of the car and see the tag, before the car pulled away. (T. 141.)

There was no evidence of communication between the two perpetrators prior to the robbery, and no evidence of communication between the two perpetrators and the defendant either prior to, during, or subsequent to the robbery. There were no statements by the defendant other than that he was driving his two passengers to a Metrorail station. For all that appears from the evidence adduced at trial, the defendant could have merely let the two companions out of the vehicle to go ask for directions, and the two companions, acting upon a spontaneously formed plan to rob, effected a robbery and returned to the car without the defendant then knowing when they entered the car that a robbery had occurred .

Thus, at most, as to the defendant the case involved presence, flight, and equivocal after-the-fact behavior, i.e., an arguably questionable or inconsistent denial, that he had been driving his companions to the Metrorail station although it was a few miles away from where the car was stopped. (T. 176-187.) However, all such evidence would tend to show would be, assuming that after entering the car the companions had at some point told the defendant that they had committed a robbery, involvement as an accessory after the fact,

which the State did not charge and which cannot in any event support conviction for the substantive offense of robbery. See, e.g., *Jackson v. State*, *436* So. 2d 1085 (Fla. 3d DCA 1983); A. Y.G. v. Sfafe, id.; Perez v. State, *390* So. 2d 85 (Fla. 3d DCA 1980); Douglas v. Sfafe, id.

On the evidence adduced, the defendant was entitled to a judgment of acquittal for insufficiency, and the trial court therefore erred in denying the motion for judgment of acquittal made on this ground, (T. 198-99, **203**),⁴ which error was compounded by the lower court reinterpreting the evidence by impermissibly pyramiding inference upon inference to sustain a conviction. Such pyramiding is patently improper. *Gustine v. State*, 86 Fla. *24*, *27-28*, *97 So. 207*, *208 (1923); Davis v. State*, 436 So. 2d 196 (Fla. 4th DCA **1983**), *review denied, 444 So.* 2d 418 (Fla. *1984*); *Horton v. State*, *442 So.* 2d 1064 (Fla. **1** st DCA 1983).

The trial court's alternative basis for denial of the motion for judgment of acquittal, that it was "[a] question of the weight of the evidence . . . whether or not [the defendant] is the person who was the driver of the vehicle[,]" (T. 203) thereby implying that it thought the defendant was one of the two perpetrators of the robbery, was absolutely unsupportable and utterly a mistaken view of the evidence. The only identification of the defendant as in any way involved came from the testimony of **Augusto** Perla, who unequivocally placed the defendant in the driver's seat, and only in the driver's seat, of the vehicle which remained parked on the street throughout the time of the offense, and from which vehicle the defendant never exited. (T. 116-17, 122-23, 128-29, 134, 141.)

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN CONDUCTING SELECTION OF JURORS OUTSIDE THE IMMEDIATE PRESENCE OF THE DEFENDANT, AND THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN DENYING APPLICATION OF CONEY V. STATE, 653 So. 2d 1009 (FIa. 1995) WHERE THE TRIAL OCCURRED AFTER ISSUANCE OF THE DECISION IN THAT CASE.

The defendant, although present in the courtroom, was excluded from presence at or participation in voir dire. At the conclusion of questioning of jurors, the trial court conducted selection, i.e., exercise of all peremptory challenges, at sidebar with only the attorneys. (T. 46-49.) Immediately upon the conclusion of sidebar, the jury was empaneled. (T. 49.) The record reflects neither participation by the defendant; opportunity for consultation with counsel; approval of selection, nor waiver of presence by the defendant.⁵ This was error, which is presumed harmful.

⁵

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