017

FILED

SID J. WHITE

FEB 19 1997

CASE NO. 89,178

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME COURT
By
Chief Deputy Clerk

DARRYL HENDERSON,

Petitioner,

-vs-

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY JURISDICTION FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA, THIRD DISTRICT

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

CONSUELO MAINGOT
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No. 0897612
Office of the Attorney General
Department of Legal Affairs
The 110 Tower - SE 6th Street
Ft. Lauderdale, Florida 33301
(954) 712-4653 Fax: 712-4658

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Third District Court of Appeal correctly affirmed the trial court's denial of Petitioner's motion for judgment of acquittal where the evidence adduced at trial -- that Petitioner drove the vehicle to the Perla's, waited with the engine running while his codefendants jumped out of his car, ran up the Perla's driveway and accosted the victims, robbing them of their purses at gunpoint, and took off as soon as his codefendants ran back and got into his car -- was legally sufficient evidence upon which the jury could base its verdict.

The rule announced in Coney v. State providing that defendants have the right to be physically present at the immediate site where pretrial juror challenges are exercised is not applicable in cases where the defendant is present in the courtroom, as here, and is prospective in application only from the time of its finality following disposition of rehearing in the case.

ARGUMENT I

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED PETITIONER'S MOTION FOR JUDGMENT OF ACQUITTAL ON THE CHARGES OF ROBBERY AS AN AIDER AND ABETTOR WHERE THE EVIDENCE SHOWED THAT HE WAS THE DRIVER OF THE VEHICLE IN WHICH THEY LEFT THE SCENE?

This case is before the Court for review of the question certified by the Third District Court of Appeal as one of great public importance on the issue of the application of the rule in Coney v. State, 653 So. 2d 1009 (Fla. 1995) to cases in which the jury selection process took place and the entire trial concluded during the period of time after the issuance of the Coney opinion but prior to the time that coney became final by the disposition of all motions for rehearing directed to that opinion. The issue of the propriety of the denial of Petitioner's motion for judgment of acquittal is not dispositive of the certified question, but only as to the matter of the sufficiency of the evidence put to the jury. Therefore, the Respondent submits that this Court should decline to answer the first question posed by the Petitioner herein, as failing to meet the standard for this Court's discretionary review on issues of great public importance. Savoje v. State, 422 So. 2d 308, 312 (Fla. 1982).

Should this Court decide to address this issue as within its discretion to consider issues other than those upon which jurisdiction is based, the Respondent submits that it is wholly without merit and the Third District Court of Appeal properly affirmed the trial court's denial of judgment of acquittal. The Petitioner contends that the evidence shows that he did not actually commit the robbery and therefore cannot be convicted of aiding and abetting except upon proof that he intended to participate in the perpetration of the crime.

A motion for judgment of acquittal challenges the legal sufficiency of the evidence, and a trial court should not grant a judgment of acquittal where the State has introduced competent evidence to support every element of the crime and competent evidence which is inconsistent with the Petitioner's theory of events. State v. Law, 559 so. 2d 187 (Fla. 1989); Toole v. State, 472 So. 2d 1174 (Fla. 1985); State v. Allen, 335 So. 2d 823 (Fla. 1976).

Moreover, when moving for a judgment of acquittal the defendant admits all facts stated, evidence adduced and every reasonable inference favorable to the State. Jones v. State, 466

So. 2d 301, 302 (Fla. 3d DCA 1985); Presslev v. State, 395 So. 2d 1175, 1177 (Fla. 3d DCA 1981); <u>Gant v. State</u>, 640 So. 2d 1180, 1181 (Fla. 4th DCA 1994). The standard of review for denial of a motion for judgment of acquittal is not whether in the opinion of the trial judge or the appellate court the evidence fails to exclude every reasonable hypothesis other than guilt, but rather whether the jury must reasonably so conclude. Perez v. State, 565 so. 2d 743, 744 (Fla. 3d DCA 1990). To be found guilty as a principal, it is not necessary for an aider and abettor to know of every detail of the crime, so long as there exists evidence of the aider's intent to participate, and it is sufficient for the jury to find the defendant aided and abetted the codefendant to find him also guilty of any crime committed by the codefendant in pursuance of a common scheme. Jones v. State, 648 So. 2d 1210, 1211 (Fla. 4th DCA 1995) (where the victim's friend testified that the defendant was grabbing for her purse when the victim's alarm went off, thus evincing intent to participate in the crime on the part of the defendant.)

In the instant case the Petitioner was properly charged as a principal with armed robbery where his codefendant carried ${\bf a}$ firearm and threatened the victims during the robbery. The

evidence adduced at trial clearly showed that the white Cadillac driven by the Petitioner was not innocently parked on the street, but had followed closely behind the Perla's vehicle and stopped at the same time as they did, with the motor running, on the street at the driveway in front of the house. The victims did not see the white car either parked or stopped anywhere on the street as they approached their driveway, and by the time their car had advanced up the driveway and they got out, the robbers were already moving quickly up the driveway to intercept them. Two occupants of the white car jumped out and approached the Perlas in their driveway while the Petitioner remained in their car with the engine running, in the street at the entrance of the Perla's driveway. As soon as the two codefendants had grabbed the purses and run back to the car, the white car sped away. Mr. Perla chased the codefendants to their car and got a good look at the driver. He was able to identify him in the "show up" and later made a definitive in-court identification of the Petitioner as the driver of the getaway car. This direct eyewitness testimony of the Petitioner's participation in the robbery as the 'wheelman" was sufficient evidence upon which the jury could reasonably base its conviction. State, 2d at 189. Furthermore, the jury could reasonably conclude that the Petitioner had knowledge of the crime and the intent to

participate in it by his action of dropping the two codefendants off at the Perla's driveway, his presence in the car with the motor running and the fact that he took off immediately when his two codefendants ran back to the car, making him an aider and abettor in the crime committed by his codefendants. Lincoln V. State, 459 so. 2d 1030 (Fla. 1984); Jones v. State, 648 so. 2d at 1211.

Moreover, the Petitioner's hypothesis of innocence was that he was giving his two friends a ride to the Metrorail Station (U.S. 1 or 72d Avenue and Kendall-88th Street). Officer Ryan testified that the Petitioner's car was stopped about three to four miles south of the Metrorail Station at 87th Avenue and 128th Street. The jury could reasonably conclude that by stopping at the Perla's long enough for the codefendants to descend from the car, run up the Perla's driveway, rob the victim's at gunpoint, and return at a run to the car which was ready to speed away, the Petitioner knew what his passengers were doing and was acting as the "wheelman" in helping them flee the scene of the crime. State v. Law, 559 So. 2d at 189. Particularly where the white car was visible in the street from the Perla's car, it is reasonable to suppose that the driver of the getaway vehicle could see what was happening in the driveway. The Petitioner would naturally be surprised if the

victim appeared at the window of the car no more than three feet away from him. Petitioner argues that his surprise was motivated by his ignorance about what was happening, but the jury was able to conclude that, with Mrs. Perla's screams, the immediacy with which the whole robbery was accomplished within two minutes, and the visibility of the Perla's car from the street and from Petitioner's vantage point, the whole robbery was coordinated by all three assailants, Petitioner included as the driver of the getaway car.

Therefore, there was sufficient competent evidence inconsistent with the Petitioner's theory of innocence, to deny the motion for judgment of acquittal and for the jury to determine that the evidence was sufficient to exclude every reasonable hypothesis of innocence beyond a reasonable doubt. The Third District Court of Appeal properly affirmed the trial court's denial judgment of acquittal where there was legally sufficient evidence for the question to go to the jury. State v. Law, 559 so. 2d at 189.

ARGUMENT II

DOES THE DECISION IN CONEY v. STATE, 653 So. 2d 1009 (Fla.), cert. denied, _____ U.S. ____, 116 s.Ct. 315, 133 L.Ed.2d 218 (1995) APPLY TO CASES IN WHICH THE JURY SELECTION PROCESS TOOK PLACE AND THE ENTIRE TRIAL CONCLUDED DURING THE PERIOD OF TIME AFTER THE ISSUANCE OF THE CONEY OPINION BUT PRIOR TO THE TIME THAT CONEY BECAME FINAL BY THE DISPOSITION OF ALL MOTIONS FOR REHEARING DIRECTED TO THAT OPINION.

The Defendant contends that the trial court conducted jury selection at **sidebar** with only the attorneys present, and the exclusion of the Defendant warrants reversal based upon this Court's rule in <u>Conev v. State</u>, 653 So. 2d 1009 (Fla. 1995).

The question of whether the rule in Coney is applicable in Petitioner's case -- falling, as it did, within the window period for final disposition pending a decision on the petition for rehearing -- is now moot in light of this Court's decision in Bovett v. State, 21 Fla. Law Weekly, S535 (Fla. December 13, 1996) where this Court held that a rule of law which is to be given prospective application does not apply to those cases which have been tried before the rule is announced. Therefore, the rule in Coney does not apply here. On April 27, 1995, this Court denied rehearing in Coney, announcing that a defendant has a right under

Rule 3.180, Fla.R.Crim.P., to be physically present at the immediate site where challenges are exercised. Coney v. State, 653 so. 2d at 1013. The instant case was tried on February 13 and 14, 1995, prior to the announcement of the rule in Coney on April 27, 1995.

Furthermore, there was no error in this case, as the Petitioner was in the room at the time the jurors were struck on peremptory challenge. In <u>Bovette v. State</u>, 21 Fla. L. Weekly, S535 (Fla. December 13, 1996), this Court receded from it's decision in *Coney, supra*. The defendant in Boyette argued that there was error because he was not present at the site where peremptory challenges were exercised. This Court found that issue to be without merit. The record in *Boyette* reflects that the defendant was present in the courtroom but not at the bench. The Court referred to it's decision in *Coney*, where the State conceded that the defendant's absence from the immediate site where challenges were held was error. The Court in *Boyette* stated:

"It was incorrect for us to accept the state's concession of error. Because the definition of "presence" had not yet been clarified, there was no error in failing to ensure Coney was at the immediate site. Although the result in Coney would have been the same whether we found no error or harmless error,

we recede from Coney to the extent that we held the new definition of presence applicable to Coney himself," Id.

Recent amendments to Rule 3.180, although not changing the analysis in *Boyette*, were noted by the Court as providing a clearer standard to resolve such issues:

A defendant is present for the purpose of this rule if the Defendant is physically in attendance for the court room proceeding and has **a** meaningful opportunity to be heard through counsel on the issues being discussed. *Id*.

There is nothing in the instant record to indicate that Petitioner was prevented or limited in any way from consulting with his attorney concerning jury selection. The record is clear that the Petitioner was present in the room during the questioning of prospective jurors, because prior to commencement of voir dire the judge introduced the prospective jurors to the State Attorney, to defense counsel and to the Petitioner. (T. 5-6). The Petitioner was also present during defense counsel's questioning of potential jurors. (T. 39-44). Immediately after voir dire the judge spoke to the jury regarding the next step in jury selection, the challenges for cause and peremptory challenges. (T. 44-46). During this time, defense counsel was presumably at the defense table and

afforded time to speak with the Petitioner regarding the use of his challenges in striking potential jurors. It is the defendant's burden to show that he was absent during proceedings before he would have even an arguable complaint on appeal. Robert v. State: 510 So. 2d 885, 890-891 (Fla. 1987). Thus, as in Boyette, there was no error in not ensuring the Petitioner's presence at the immediate site, if indeed he was not present.

Conducting a bench conference with counsel for the State and the Defendant, at which the defendant himself is not present, is not reversible error where trial counsel is given the opportunity to consult with the defendant just prior to the bench conference, Ogden v. State, 658 So. 2d 621, 622 (Fla. 3d DCA 1995) (where the case establishing that waiver of defendant's presence be expressly made was prospective and not applicable in Ogden). Even assuming that the rule in Conev v. State, 653 So. 2d 1009, 1013 (Fla. 1995) applies in this case, and that if the Defendant was not present, he must have expressly waived his presence, there is nothing in the record, nor cited by the Defendant, which demonstrates that the Defendant was not at sidebar. The trial judge asked:

Can I see the attorneys sidebar, please?

(T. 46). That was the extent of the record on the presence or absence of the Defendant. It is not sufficient to disturb the judgment and sentence on appeal where the record is silent with respect to the absence or presence of the Defendant. The constitutional right to be present at stages of a defendant's trial where fundamental fairness might be thwarted by his absence may be presumed to be protected by defense counsel and the trial court, and where no objection is made by trial counsel, no record of the error is preserved, and this Court has no basis upon which to base its review. Therefore, the trial court's discretion in conducting jury selection and the district court's affirmation comes to this Court with the presumption of correctness, absent any clear indication of error on the record,

The decision of the Third District Court should be affirmed and the certified question should be answered in the negative.

CONCLUSION

WHEREFORE, based upon the foregoing, the decision of the District Court of Appeal should be reversed and the certified question answered in the negative.